
Highways and Traffic Representation 
Panel
Date: Monday, 25 September 2017
Time: 10.30 am

Venue: Committee Room 2 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer: Anne Beauchamp
Tel: 0151 691 8608
e-mail: annebeauchamp@wirral.gov.uk
Website: www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Committee are asked to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non pecuniary interests, in connection with any items on 
the agenda and state the nature of the interest. 

2. PETITION FOR LOWER SPEED LIMIT - BRIMSTAGE ROAD, 
BRIMSTAGE (Pages 1 - 8)

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL COUNCIL

HIGHWAYS AND TRAFFIC REPRESENTATION PANEL

SUBJECT: PETITION FOR LOWER SPEED LIMIT - 
BRIMSTAGE ROAD, BRIMSTAGE

WARDS AFFECTED: CLATTERBRIDGE

REPORT OF: DAVID BALL, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR 
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER:

COUNCILLOR STUART WHITTINGHAM

KEY DECISION? NO

REPORT SUMMARY

This report considers a petition from 240 individuals for the reduction of the speed 
limit within the 50 mph sections Brimstage Road from 50 mph to 40 mph.

RECOMMENDATION/S

That the Highways Representation Panel note the petition and that following the 
investigation into the road safety history and introduction of the local safety scheme 
in 2016, that this scheme continue to be monitored, but no further action is taken at 
this time to reduce the current 50 mph speed limits on Brimstage Road.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

1.1 The recommendation is based on an improved road safety record, the 
strategic nature of the A5137 Brimstage Road, speeds of traffic using the 
road, comments made by Merseyside Police together with advice from the 
Department for Transport for Highway Authorities setting local speed limits. 
Officers will continue to monitor road safety records and make appropriate 
recommendations for additional work should this become necessary.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report considers the petition from 240 signatories for a speed limit 
reduction due to concerns they have raised over road safety. No alternative 
options have been considered in relation to this petition.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND KEY ISSUES

3.1 Brimstage Road (A5137) is a strategic east-west route across Wirral 
connecting Heswall and the A540 to the M53 at Clatterbridge. It carries a 
substantial traffic volume, particularly during commuter times.

3.2 In 2010, the Department for Transport required all local Highway Authorities to 
undertake a Speed Limit Review (SLR) for all of its A and B roads, together 
with many unclassified roads considered to be of strategic importance. To 
ensure that the Council adopted best practice, a panel of experts in this field 
was utilised including a consultancy that had experience evaluating speed 
limits in a range of other Highway Authority areas, Police (traffic management 
Officers together with a local Inspector), Wirral Council’s Traffic Manager and 
Road Safety Manager.

3.3 The SLR examined the types of road, usage, speed and flows of traffic, road 
safety history and environment (including shopping, residential use 
assessments). In the case of Brimstage Road the panel recommended the 
reduction of the speed limit from the then national limit (60mph) to 50mph 
which was implemented in January 2011. A number of other roads in the 
broad area also had a consistent reduction in speed limit to 50mph.

3.4 The Council has a statutory duty for road safety (Road Traffic Act 1988). As 
part of this in 2014, Officers undertook an analysis of the road safety records 
on Brimstage Road in 2014. During this study, the road safety records 

Page 2



provided to the Council by Merseyside Police revealed that there had been 6 
injury crashes over a 5 year study period within the predominantly rural 
50mph speed limit section of this road (ie excluding the 30mph section of the 
Brimstage Village).

3.5 During the detailed investigation into the road safety records, Officers noted 
that there was a cluster of 3 injury crashes at the bend immediately adjacent 
to the Brimstage Road/Whitehouse Lane junction and that additional 
measures to highlight the bend would resolve this issue, leading to a reduction 
in collisions and improvement in road safety.

3.6 Of the remaining 3 crashes within the rural section of this road investigators 
consider these were spread out at various points and unlikely to be resolved 
by the introduction of additional measures. These remaining 3 collisions 
included:
 two at the junction of Talbot Road in which drivers made a poor decision 

to turn into Talbot Road and collided with an oncoming vehicle.
 one at the junction of Manor Road involving an elderly driver who had a 

medical episode before crashing. Sadly this driver died of the medical 
condition.

From the information provided by the police, none of these collisions involved 
inappropriate or excessive speed.

3.7 In order to improve safety on Brimstage Road a scheme was approved by 
Cabinet within the Transport Plan for Growth programme 2015/16. This 
scheme required the introduction of edge of carriageway marker posts, a 
vehicle activated bend warning sign, slow carriageway markings and a minor 
realignment of the main route around the bend at the junction of Brimstage 
Road/Whitehouse Lane, carriageway markings and road studs. These 
measures cost £35,000 and were introduced in 2016 and 2017.

3.8 During the investigation into road safety on Brimstage Road the council 
received representation from a member of the public who expressed their 
concern over road safety on Brimstage Road and requested that the speed 
limit on the 50 mph section of this road be reduced to 40mph.

3.9 Following correspondence with a member of the public over concerns for road 
safety and the speed of traffic on the rural section Brimstage Road, a petition 
was submitted containing 240 signatures from members of the public in June 
2016. 

3.10 In October 2016 the Road Safety Manager and Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Infrastructure met with the lead petitioner and interested members of the 

Page 3



public to discuss their ongoing concerns over the speed of traffic on Brimstage 
Road. 

3.11 At that time, Officers were awaiting the results of additional survey that was 
being undertaken after the safety improvement scheme (para 3.7 above) had 
been introduced and ‘bedded in’.

3.12 During the meeting the petitioners, raised a number of concerns:
a) Due to the speed of traffic on Brimstage Road, they find it difficult to turn 

into or out of private properties or either of the two residential care homes 
on the section of Brimstage Road between Old Lane and the 30mph 
section of Brimstage Village.

b) Petitioners feel that their safety is compromised by the traffic volume and 
speed when accessing properties and that visibility along the road is poor 
when exiting properties.

c) Pedestrians crossing Brimstage Road to the residential care homes/bus 
stops (staff or visitors) find difficulty in crossing the road due to both 
volume and speed of traffic.

d) There is no footway alongside the whole length of this rural section of 
Brimstage Road.

e) Brimstage Road is not an ‘inviting’ road for cyclists due to the volume of 
traffic and width of road.

4.0 INVESTIGATIONS 

4.1 A number of speed & traffic volume surveys have been undertaken on 
Brimstage Road with information collected in each case over 7 days before 
the safety scheme was introduced in 2016; soon after the scheme was 
introduced in October 2016 and also in late May 2017. The results of these 
surveys are shown in table 1 below.

Table 1
Eastbound Westbound

Volume 85th %ile mph Volume 85th %ile mph

Apr 2015 3564 45.0 3475 42.3
Oct 2016 3416 41.7 3374 44.1

Site 1 West 
(Old Rd to 
Brimstage 
Village)

May 2017 3390 45.5 3407 41.8

Apr 2015 4813 46.8 4808 44.5
Oct 2016 ~ ~ ~ ~

Site 2 East 
(Brimstage 
Village to 
M53)

May 2017 4796 48.2 4904 45.2

Page 4



4.2 The results of the traffic surveys indicate that the majority of traffic is travelling 
above 40mph with the most recent surveys demonstrating 85th%ile speeds 
averaging 43.6mph for the western site (between Old Lane and Brimstage 
Village) and 46.7mph for the eastern site between Brimstage Village and M53. 
Officers consider that these speeds are most compatible with the existing 
50mph speed limit.

4.3 Since the introduction of the safety scheme, analysis of the road safety 
information provided to the Council by the police shows that there have been 
no recorded injury collisions on Brimstage Road in either the western or 
eastern side of the village area

4.4 The council are aware of two non-injury collisions during the past 12 months 
on Brimstage road on the western side of the village area:
 One involving a vehicle emerging from one of the nursing homes where a 

vehicle failed to give way to traffic on the main road.
 One involving a driver moving past cattle near the farm colliding with an 

oncoming vehicle.

4.5 It is noted that visibility is poor for vehicles emerging from some properties 
fronting onto Brimstage Road and that this could be improved if adjacent field 
hedges were cut so as not to encroach to the highway boundary. Discussions 
are progressing with Leverhulme Estates and local tenant farmers to 
undertake this work at appropriate times during the year.

4.6 Along with many roads of largely rural nature, Brimstage Road does not have 
a dedicated footway along its whole length. The Council does not own 
sufficient verge margins to consistently provide a footway or shared footway 
cycleway, nor is Brimstage Road wide enough to consider narrowing the 
carriageway and providing a cycle/footway. A long-term aspiration still exists 
to work with adjacent landowners to provide additional facilities for cyclists 
and pedestrians.

4.7 Following the meeting with interested parties in October 2016 additional action 
has been taken to remove grass overgrowing near the bus stop opposite 
Brimstage Manor so that pedestrians may stand further back from the 
kerbside.

4.8 Contact has been made with Merseyside Police to discuss the potential 
enforcement implications if the speed limit were to be reduced to 40mph. 
Specialist Roads Policing Officers have considered this and commented that 
whilst taking into consideration the road safety records, speed surveys, rural 
nature of the road layout and the number and type of adjacent properties they 
do not consider a reduction in speed limit is warranted.

Page 5



4.9 The police have also commented that they would have significant practical 
difficulty undertaking enforcement of a lower speed limit on the rural sections 
of Brimstage Road and that should one be introduced it may bring other 
similar limits into disrepute.

4.10 The Council has identified that there have been 6 recorded injury collisions 
during a 5 year study period within the comparatively short 30mph ‘village’ 
section of Brimstage Road. The comparative narrowness of the road, 
junctions and winding nature of the road within the village area together with 
inappropriate speed is a factor in a number of these collisions and a scheme 
to improve road safety in this area is currently being developed for 
introduction during the 2017/18 capital programme.

4.11 Analysis of the road safety history for the section of Brimstage Road between 
the ‘village’ area and the M53 motorway revealed that there are no recoded 
injury collisions reported by the police during the last 5 years.

4.12 The Department for Transport (DfT) Circular 01/2013 provides advice for 
Highway Authorities on setting local speed limits including roads of a largely 
rural nature. Officers have considered the information set out by the DfT 
during the investigation.

4.13 This Circular notes that speed limit changes (reductions) are unlikely to fully 
address casualty problems on rural roads but that where collision rates persist 
despite other measures then lower speed limits may also be considered.

4.14 Table 2 below taken from Circular 01/2013 indicates the general conditions for 
rural road speed limits:

Table 2 – Speed limits for single carriageway roads with a predominant 
motor traffic flow function
Speed 
Limit
(mph)

Where limit should apply:

60 Recommended for most high quality strategic A and B road with few 
bends, junctions or accesses.

50 Should be considered for lower quality A and B roads that may have 
relatively high number of bends junctions or accesses.

Can also be considered where mean speeds are below 50mph, so 
lower limit does not interfere with traffic flow.

40 Should be considered where there are many bends, junctions or 
accesses, substantial development, a strong environmental or 
landscape reason, or where there are considerable numbers of 
vulnerable road users.

Page 6



4.15 Officers consider that the conclusion from the panel of experts undertaking the 
wide-scale speed limit review in 2010/2011 is correct and that the current 50 
mph speed limit for this road is appropriate and within the guidance set out by 
the Department for Transport.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS; 

5.1 There are no additional resource implications or costs arising from the report 
or recommendation.

5.2 Should a lower speed limit be approved the cost is estimated in the region of 
£5,000. Currently there are no additional funds available for this work.

6.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no known legal implications arising out of this report. 

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS; ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

7.1 There are no known legal implications arising out of this report. Existing 
staffing resources have been used in the preparation of this report.

8.0 RELEVANT RISKS

8.1 None identified

9.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

9.1 A meeting was held with the lead petitioner and interested members of the 
public in October 2016 (see paragraph 3.12).

9.2 As the key body for the enforcement of speed limits as well as having a remit 
regarding safety on the highway Merseyside Police were consulted (see 
paragraphs 4.8 – 4.9).

10.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

10.1 There are no known implications under this heading arising out of this report.

Page 7



11.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has not been conducted as there are no 
specific equality issues arising from this report.

APPENDICIES

None

REPORT AUTHOR: David Rees
Road Safety Manager
Telephone: (0151) 606 2111
Email: davidrees@wirral.gov.uk

SUBJECT HISTORY
Council Meeting Date
Cabinet – Transport Plan for Growth 
Programme 2017/18

27th February 2017

Page 8

mailto:davidrees@wirral.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 PETITION FOR LOWER SPEED LIMIT - BRIMSTAGE ROAD, BRIMSTAGE

